#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KELLY GRANT, Individually and As Personal Representative of the Estate and Heirs-at-Law And/or Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of MAKAYLA MAGGARD, Deceased, a Minor

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

NO. 2009-TS-01815

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT** 

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KELLY GRANT, Individually and As Personal Representative of the Estate and Heirs-at-Law And/or Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of MAKAYLA MAGGARD, Deceased, a Minor

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

NO.: 2009-TS-01815

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

**APPELLEE** 

#### Certificate of Interested Persons

# STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue No. 1:	Did the Court Err in Failing to Compel the Defendant, Ford Motor Company, to produce the Design Drawings of the 1996 Ford Probe?
Issue No. 2:	Did the Court Err in Excluding the Affidavit of Dr. Charles W. Benedict?
Issue No. 3:	Did the Court Err in granting Ford Motor Company's Motion to Exclude Dr. Benedict's Seatbelt, Structural Integrity and Biomechanic Opinions?
Issue No. 4:	Did the Court Err in denying Plaintiff's Motion to Compel the 30(b)(6) Deposition of Ford Motor Company?
Issue No. 5:	Did the Court Err in denying Plaintiff's Motion to Allow Additional Discovery?
Issue No. 6:	Did the Court Err in denying Plaintiff's Motion to Amend the Scheduling Order?
Issue No. 7:	Did the Court Err in granting Summary Judgment in favor of Ford Motor Company?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kelly Grant (hereinafter "Grant") and her two small children, Memory and Makayla Maggard were traveling along Highway 45 in Clarke County, Mississippi on September 28, 2002 in Grant's 1996 Ford Probe. Grant, the driver, was seated in the driver's seat, while her young daughter MaKayla Maggard was seated directly behind her in the driver's side rear seat. Makayla was properly restrained in her infant seat. Memory Maggard was seated in the rear passenger's side seat.

As Grant approached an intersection, Riley ran a stop sign on the east side of Highway 45, crossed both lanes of traffic, and crashed her 1998 Toyota into the driver's side of Grant's 1996 Ford Probe.

As a result of the collision, Grant, Memory and Makayla suffered injury. Makayla suffered severe head trauma and succumbed to her injuries. It is undisputed that Riley's actions caused the accident, and plaintiffs have settled with Riley regarding her culpability.

Grant, on behalf of herself, her minor child, Memory, and the Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Makayla filed a Complaint against Ford Motor Company (hereinafter "Ford") on December 31, 2002. Grant alleged that her 1996 Ford Probe's design and manufacturing defects caused and contributed to the injuries of Grant and her young children. Specifically, Grant alleged defects in the seat belts, framework (welds), and hinges caused and contributed to their injuries. Ford denies same.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Grant submits the Court erred by failing to compel the production of certain design drawings. Miss. R. Civ. P. 34 requires parties to produce all documents in their "possession, custody, and control." In denying Grant's Motion to Compel, the Court found only that said documents were not in Ford's possession. However, Grant submits the Court failed to apply the correct legal standard.

The Court failed to consider Ford's ability to control said documents. Ford and Mazda Motor Corporation entered into a contract to jointly manufacture the Ford Probe. Under the terms of the Contract, Ford had the absolute contractual right to obtain said documents. Further, Ford exercised control over Mazda in that Ford has a thirty three percent (33%) ownership interest. For all these reasons, Grant submits that Ford had a practicable ability to produce said documents and should have been compelled to produce said design drawings.

Notwithstanding Ford's failure to produce said documents, Grant properly designated Dr. Charles W. Benedict as an expert witness anticipated to testify at trial regarding seat belts, door hinges/welds and biomechanics. Grant produced a written report of Dr. Benedict in accordance with the various Scheduling Orders. Further, Grant produced Dr. Benedict for deposition. At all times, Benedict opined that the Grant Ford Probe was defective. Dr. Benedict opined that the seatbelt was designed in such a manner that when certain forces were applied, the seat belt would unlatch thus allowing the passenger to move about the vehicle. Further, Dr. Benedict opined that the welds along the b-pillar of the Grant Probe were inappropriate and not sufficient to prevent the anticipated shearing. Further, Benedict

opined that the head of the minor child struck the B-Pillar thus causing the head trauma documented in the child's medical records.

Ford filed a *Daubert* Motion to Exclude Grant's expert. In response, Grant responded and attached three separate affidavits of Benedict setting forth Benedict's bases for his opinions. Ford filed a Motion to Strike said Affidavits just two days prior to the hearing on Ford's Motion. Over the notice objection of counsel for Grant, the Court heard argument regarding said Motion to Strike, and entered its Order Striking the Affidavits of Dr. Benedict. Grant argues the Court erred.

This Court has stated that when an expert's opinion is challenged, the party sponsoring said witness shall be allowed an opportunity to respond to the challenge. Further, this Court has held that a discovery deadline shall not preclude seasonable supplementation. In fact, the Rules of Civil Procedure require same. Nothing in Dr. Benedict's Affidavits was outside the scope of Grant's designation. Further, the Affidavits were provided ninety-four (94) days prior to the scheduled trial date, Ford neither argued nor showed bad faith and/or surprise, and in fact, Dr. Benedict, in his deposition stated said additional testing would be conducted after the close of the deposition. For these reasons, Grant submits the Court erred in excluding the Affidavits of Benedict.

Further, Grant submits the exclusion of her expert's testimony was without merit. The testimony of Benedict was (1) based upon sufficient facts and data and (2) was a product of reliable principles and methods (3) applied to facts of this case. For these reasons the exclusion of Dr. Benedict as an expert was incorrect.

Also cited as error was the Court's failure to compel the continuation of the 30(b)(6)

Deposition of Ford. Grant noticed the 30(b)(6) Deposition of Ford in accordance with the Scheduling Order. Ford produced Howard Slater as their only 30(b)(6) designee. During said deposition, Slater identified three individuals who were better capable of providing information regarding the one topic of inquiry. Many areas of inquiry contained within the notice were never addressed, and Slater identified a series of responsive documents not produced by Ford. Additionally, when Grant's counsel advised that the completion of said deposition was not possible, Ford refused to allow Grant to continue the deposition further. Grant filed a Motion to Compel the deposition. The Court denied same. Again, Grant submits that the Court erred. Ford had a duty to produce those individuals most knowledgeable about the topics of inquiry. Clearly, Ford did not. Further, approximately four hours to depose an evasive corporate representative is hardly adequate (after all Ford deposed Plaintiff's expert for eleven hours).

Additionally, as a result of the information discovered during the deposition of Slater, Grant sought an Order compelling the production of the documents identified for the first time. Further, Grant sought an opportunity to depose those witnesses identified in the deposition. Again, the Court denied Grant's requests.

Finally, Grant sought an Order Amending the Scheduling Order to allow plaintiffs to supplement their designation of experts and conduct additional discovery. Again, the Court denied Grant's requests and granted Summary Judgment in favor of Ford. This Court has been consistent that when limitations on discovery are improvidently ordered and important information is denied a litigant a reversal will result. Therefore, Grant urges this Court to enter its Order reversing the decisions of the lower court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Issue No. 1:

Did the Court Err in Failing to Compel the Defendant, Ford Motor Company, to produce the Design Drawings of the 1996 Ford Probe?

Ford Motor Company, Mazda Motor Corporation, and Auto Alliance International, Inc. entered into a Product Development Agreement to design, manufacture and produce a vehicle and market said vehicle under the name "Ford Probe" on March 19, 1993. (R. E. 1). Said vehicles were assembled in facilities owned and operated by Auto Alliance International in accordance with the design specifications and distributed to Ford Motor Company. Grant alleges her 1996 Ford Probe was designed, manufactured and produced in accordance with the terms and specifications of said agreement.

Grant propounded Requests for Production of Documents to Ford Motor Company. Contained within said Requests for Production of Documents was a request for all Design Drawings relating to the 1996 Ford Probe. Ford Motor Company answered and alleged said documents were not in their possession and referred Grant to Mazda. (R. E. 3, p. 3) Ford has never stated that said documents are not within their custody and/or control.

Grant filed a Motion to Compel the production of the Design Drawings alleging that although Ford Motor Company may not be in actual possession of the design drawings, Ford controlled and/or had custody of said design drawings; therefore, Ford should be compelled. Notwithstanding argument the Court entered its Order denying said request.<sup>1</sup>

The Lower Court record is void of a written Order denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel; however, it is undisputed that the Motion was made, argument was had, and the Court denied same. In fact, the Court references its denial of said Motion in its Memorandum Opinion dated September 28, 2009 on p. 2 of said opinion.

However, Grant submits that the Court erred in its ruling.

Miss R.C iv. P. 34 provides:

Any party may serve on any other party a request (1) to produce and permit the party making the request, or someone acting on his behalf, to inspect and copy, any designated documents ... which are in the possession, custody or control of the party upon whom the request is served.

It is undisputed that ST44 Product Development Agreement ¶ 5.1 D. <u>Specifications</u> and Drawings. provided as follows:

... When Ford specifies a need for specifications and drawings, Mazda and AAI shall provide to Ford, normally within fourteen (14) days after Ford's request ...copies of specifications, drawings, blueprints, instructions and other supporting documentation prepared or owned by them as well as shoninzu of its vendors ... relevant to the Ford vehicle. (R. E. 1)

Accordingly, it is clear that Ford, at all times, during the discovery period, had a legal right to obtain the design drawings from Mazda. Courts have consistently held a party has control if said party has a legal right to obtain the documents on demand. Resolution Trust Corp. v. Deloitte & Touche, 145 F.R.D. 108, 110 (D. Colo. 1992); Weck v. Cross, 88 F.R.D. 325, 327 (N.D. III. 1980); Searock v. Stripling, 736 F. 2d 650, 653 (11th Cir. 1984); The legal right to obtain documents or information from another may arise by contract. Anderson v. Cryovac, Inc., 862 F.2d 910, 928-29 (1st Cir. 1988).

The word 'control' is to be broadly construed. A party controls documents that it has the right, authority, or ability to obtain upon demand. <u>Scott v. Arex, Inc.</u>, 124 F.R.D. 39 (D.Conn. 1989); <u>Haseotes v. Abacab Internat'l Computers, Inc.</u>, 120 F. R. D. 12 (D. Mass

<sup>(</sup>R. E. 2) However, it should be noted that the Court continually states that it is satisfied that Ford is not in possession of the design drawings. Possession is not the appropriate test.

1988); Buckley v. Vidal, 50 F. R. D. 271.

Additionally, under some circumstances courts interpret the concept to go beyond whether the litigant has a legal right to obtain materials and focuses on their practical ability to obtain them. In Re NASDAQ Market-Makers Antitrust Litig., 169 F.R.D. 493, 530 (S.D.N.Y. 1996). Therefore, Rule 34 enables a party seeking discovery to require production of documents beyond Ford's actual possession if Ford has retained any right or ability to influence the person in whose possession the documents lie. Rule 34 creates access to documentation in an economical and expeditious fashion by requiring Ford to produce relevant records not in its physical possession when the records can be obtained easily from Mazda by simple request. Prokosch v. Catalina Lighting, Inc., 193 F.R.D. 633, 636 (D.Minn. 2000).

Further, Ford Motor Company has a thirty three percent ownership in Mazda Motor Company. Therefore, notwithstanding Ford Motor Company's contractual right to obtain the design drawing, Ford also possessed a degree of ownership and thus can exercise control over Mazda Motor Company. Courts have been clear that defendants cannot be allowed to shield crucial documents from discovery merely by storing them with its affiliate abroad. If Defendants could so easily evade discovery, every company would invest in a foreign affiliate for the sole purpose of storing sensitive documents. Cooper Indus. v. British Aerospace, Inc., 102 F.R.D. 918, 920 (S.D.N.Y. 1984).

For the aforegoing reasons, Grant submits that the Court erred when it failed to compel the production of the design drawings relating to the 1996 Ford Probe automobile.

#### Issue No. 2

#### Did the Court Err in Excluding the Affidavit of Dr. Charles W. Benedict?

On or about May 4, 2009, Ford Motor Company filed its Motion to Exclude Dr. Charles Benedict's opinions regarding (1) Biomechanics, (2) Structure, and (3) Seatbelts and noticed same for hearing on May 26, 2009.

In response to said challenges and at the request of Grant's counsel, Dr. Benedict prepared and submitted affidavits relating to his education, experience, research, investigation, and opinions relating to (1) Biomechanics (R.E. 7), (2) Structure (R.E. 6), and (3) Seatbelts (R.E. 8). Said Affidavits were attached to Grant's Response to Ford Motor Company's Motions to Exclude Dr. Charles Benedict's Opinions which was filed with the Court on May 21, 2009.

After receiving Grant's Response, Ford Motor Company requested a continuance of the May 26, 2009 scheduled hearing on their Motions to Exclude in order to prepare a reply to Grant's Response. Said continuance was granted by the Court. Thereafter, Ford renoticed its Motions to Exclude Dr. Charles Benedict's Opinions for June 11, 2009. Said Notice was dated May 28, 2009 (R. E. 9). Some eleven days later, Ford Motor Company filed their Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Dr. Charles Benedict on June 8, 2009, and noticed same to be heard at the hearing on June 11, 2009.

#### Notice

Counsel for Grant objected to said Motion being heard at the June 11, 2009, hearing, as untimely. Miss R. Civ. P. 6 (d) provides that "A written motion, other than one which may be heard ex parte, and notice of the hearing thereof, shall be served not later than five

days before the time fixed for the hearing."

Notwithstanding the plain language of Miss R. Civ. P. 6(d) said objection was overruled by the Court and Grant was forced to proceed with the hearing regarding the Affidavit without sufficient time to prepare a response.

Grant submits that the Court committed error by not providing Grant sufficient time to prepare a response to Ford's Motion to Strike and forcing Grant to defend a Motion without being provided sufficient notice under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

#### Motion

Further, it is Grant's position that Ford's Motion was without merit and should have been denied. Miss. R. Civ. P. 26(4)(A)(i) provides:

A party may through interrogatories require any other party to identify each person whom the other party expect to call as an expert witness at trial, to state the subject matter on which the expert is expected to testify, and to state the substance of the facts and opinions to which the expert is expected to testify and a summary of the grounds for each opinion.

In accordance with said requirement, Appellants' counsel filed their Designation of Expert on April 17, 2007 (R.E. 2). Grant also provided Ford a Preliminary Report of Dr. Charles W. Benedict on August 9, 2007 (R.E. 4). By agreement of the parties, Dr. Charles W. Benedict, Appellants' expert, was deposed pursuant to Notice on June 25, 2008 and June 26, 2008. At the beginning of said Deposition, counsel for Grant made it clear that Grant's expert opinions were incomplete and/or void of certain specifics due to Ford's failure to produce the aforementioned design drawings. Gant specifically reserved Grant's right to supplement, modify, enhance, and/or change said opinions as discovery continued and/or additional information was received and/or discovered. See Deposition Transcript of

Charles Benedict, Vol. I, Page 6, L. 9-16, R.E. 5).

In accordance with the Designation filed in 2007 by Grant, Dr. Charles W. Benedict stated he was "asked to document the vehicle, reconstruct the accident, and look at the vehicle from the standpoint of any defects within the vehicle that would have led to the injuries to the occupants." *See* R. E. 5, Vol. I, Page 7, L. 23 through Page 8, Line 2. Upon examination, Dr. Benedict identified two major defects with the subject Ford Probe. First, he identified a defect in the structural integrity of the left side of the vehicle, including the door and b-pillar and the hinges at the door. Second, he identified, the restraints. *See* R. E. 5, Vol. I, P. 8, L. 14-19. After identifying generally his opinions, Dr. Benedict continued to respond to all specific questions posed by counsel for Ford for some eleven and one-half hours at all times making it clear that his opinions were subject to additional discovery, review of the design drawings and any subsequent testing.

Notwithstanding the repeated and exhaustive efforts of Grant's counsel to obtain the design drawings, the design drawings were never discovered and/or produced by Ford and/or Mazda. Therefore, Dr. Benedict was never afforded the opportunity to review said design drawings and/or specifications. Notwithstanding this fact, Dr. Benedict, in accordance with his deposition testimony, continued his original investigation, research, and testing in preparation for the scheduled trial.

In <u>Young v. Meacham.</u>, 999 So. 2d 368 (Miss. 2008), the Mississippi Supreme Court made it clear that a Scheduling Order does not preclude supplementation. In fact, Miss R. Civ. P. 26(f)(1) demands that a party seasonably supplement. Further, the Court held that "there is no hardline rule as to what constitutes seasonableness, the focus is to avoid unfair

surprise and allow the other side enough time to prepare for trial." *Id. at* 372. "The Supreme Court has defined "seasonable supplementation" to mean soon after new information is known and far enough in advance of trial for the other side to prepare." Thompson v. Patino, M.D., 784 So. 2d 220, 223 (Miss. 2001).

The Mississippi Supreme Court addressed this issue directly in <u>Kilhullen v. Kansas</u>

<u>City So. Railway</u>, 8 So. 3d 168 (Miss. 2009). In <u>Kilhullen</u>, Plaintiff's experts submitted affidavits after the end of Discovery in the Court's Scheduling Order, in response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, and the trial court struck the affidavits. The Supreme Court reversed, noting:

"Additionally, this Court has stated that "[w]e... require that, when an expert's opinion is challenged, the party sponsoring the expert's challenged opinion be given a fair opportunity to respond to the challenge. The provision of a fair opportunity to respond is part of the trial court's gate keeping responsibility ...." Smith v. Clement, 983 So. 2d 285, 2008 Miss. LEXIS 172 at 11 (Miss. 2008)."

The court reached a similar result in <u>Young v. Meachum</u>. Plaintiff sought to admit a second affidavit and a supplemental expert designation after the end of Discovery as scheduled in the Court's Scheduling Order. The trial court struck the affidavit and supplemental designation, and granted summary judgment. The Mississippi Supreme Court reversed. The opinion notes:

"...the trial court erroneously equated a discovery deadline with a deadline for supplementation of an expert opinion. P16. To the contrary, Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 26(f)(1) requires that a party "seasonably supplement a prior response with any question addressed to ... (B) the identity of each person expected to be called as an expert witness at trial, the subject matter on which the person is expected to testify, and the substance of the testimony." While there is no hardline rule as to what constitutes seasonableness, the focus is to avoid unfair surprise and allow the other side enough time to prepare for trial. (Citations omitted.)

In the present case, no trial date had been set, and Dr. Hansen's supplemental

affidavit did nothing to change his original opinions. As noted above, the only difference between the supplemental affidavit and the original affidavit was his opinion that the EKG was wrongly interpreted."

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