IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-01815

KELLY GRANT, Individually and as Personal  
Representative of the Estate and Heirs-at-Law  
and/or Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of  
MAKAYLA MAGGARD, Deceased, a Minor

APPELLANT

v.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY

APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Clarke County, Mississippi

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**  
**FORD MOTOR COMPANY**

---

Michael B. Wallace, MSB # [REDACTED]  
Rebecca Hawkins MSB # [REDACTED]  
WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY, P.A.  
Post Office Box 651  
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0651  
Telephone: 601-968-5500

Walker W. Jones, III, MSB # [REDACTED]  
Cable M. Frost, MSB # [REDACTED]

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

---

<sup>26</sup> Where a party has control of documents in the possession of a third party, such as one's bank statements, he or she may not rely on the fact that the opposing party could subpoena the documents and thereby refuse to comply with an order to produce the documents. *Smith v. Tougaloo College*, 805 So.2d 633, 639-40 (Miss. App. 2002). However, a party's continued insistence on having an opponent produce documents it has been shown cannot be obtained by that party, while not taking advantage of avenues by which he or she might could get the documents, is another matter. See *Chaveriat v. Williams Pipe Line Co.*, 11 F.3d 1420, 1426 (7th Cir. 1993) (Posner, C.J.) (after finding that items were not in plaintiffs' control under Rule 34, court notes that plaintiffs had told the defendants what entities had the items "and if the defendant had wanted pertinent documents in the custody or control of any of those entities it had only to issue a subpoena duces tecum"); *M'Baye v. New Jersey Sports Prod., Inc.*, 2008 WL 1849777, \*4 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 21, 2008) (party had made reasonable efforts to get documents from his former promoter and manager who refused to cooperate; "if defendants really believe these documents are so important, they may themselves seek to compel [the promoter and manager] to produce them"); *American Maplan Corp. v. Heilmayr*, 203 F.R.D. 499, 502 (D. Kan. 2001) (after finding that officer and minority shareholder of corporation did not have control of corporation's documents, Court notes that "Rule 45 is the proper vehicle through which AMC may obtain the VET documents"). Here, the true importance of the documents is questionable, as plaintiffs expressed their desire to go to trial whether they obtained these documents or not. 18:5, 18:61-62.

biomechanics testimony would have still been excluded, and summary judgment would have been entered due to Grant's inability to prove causation. 11:1630, R.E.14. So this issue provides no basis for overturning the judgment entered in Ford's favor.

Regardless, the Circuit Court properly denied Grant's motion. In one of the cases cited by Grant, the Circuit Court notes that "Rule 34 performs the salutary function of creating access to documentation in an economical and expeditious fashion by requiring a party to produce relevant records not in its physical possession *when the records can be obtained easily from a third-party source.*" *Resolution Trust Corp. v. DeLoitte & Touche*, 145 F.R.D. 108, 111 (D. Colo. 1992) (emphasis added). The record in this case reveals just the opposite—the Mazda design documents could not be easily obtained by Ford. Ford thus was under no duty to produce them, and the Circuit Court acted well within its discretion in denying Grant's motion to compel. *Herndon v. Mississippi Forestry Comm'n*, 2010 WL 4942649, \*5 (Miss. App. Dec. 7, 2010) ("court's 'denial of a motion to compel is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review on appeal'") (quoting *Edmonds v. Williamson*, 13 So.3d 1283, 1292 (Miss. 2009)). See also *Allen v. National R. Passenger Corp.*, 934 So.2d 1006, 1013 (Miss. 2006) (finding no abuse of discretion in trial court's finding as to whether failure to produce documents was due to willfulness or an inability to comply).<sup>27</sup>

**A. The record establishes that Ford does not have the "practical ability" to get the documents from Mazda.**

After requiring Ford to request the design documents from Mazda, 11:1620, F.R.E.2, a

---

<sup>27</sup> Grant cites a California case, *Greyhound Corp. v. Superior Court*, 364 P.2d 266, 279-80 (Cal. 1961), for the proposition that "while the exercise of discretion depends on the parties' factual showings disputed facts should be construed in favor of discovery." Gr.Br. at 24. If Grant means to suggest that, in discovery disputes, all doubtful factual issues should be resolved in favor of more discovery, no opinion of this Court suggests any such thing. To the contrary, the Supreme Court of the United States has affirmed discovery orders where the trial court's factual findings "are fully supported by the record." *National Hockey League v. Metropolitan Hockey Club, Inc.*, 427 U.S. 639, 642 (1976), *reh'g denied*, 429 U.S. 874 (1976). As demonstrated hereafter, the Circuit Court's finding that Ford lacked possession, custody, or control of the disputed design documents is "fully supported by the record."

process that proved unfruitful when Mazda refused to produce the documents, *id.*, the Circuit Court properly denied Grant's motion. Despite Grant's assertions to the contrary, it was made evident that Ford did not have the "practical ability" to obtain the documents from Mazda and that the documents could not "be obtained easily from Mazda by simple request." Gr.Br. at 8. Accordingly, even if "practical ability" were the proper standard,<sup>28</sup> Ford did not have "control" of the documents so as to require Ford to produce them under M.R.C.P. 34.<sup>29</sup>

Indeed, in one of the cases cited by Grant, *Searock v. Stripling*, 736 F.2d 650, 653-54 (11th Cir. 1984), the court held that a party did not have "control" of documents when it had made good faith efforts to obtain them from third parties, but those entities had not provided them.<sup>30</sup>

---

<sup>28</sup> The "practical ability" standard noted in *In re NASDAQ Market-Makers Antitrust Litig.*, 169 F.R.D. 493, 530 (S.D.N.Y. 1996), cited at Gr.Br. 8, is a broader application of control than that applied by other courts. In *Power Integrations, Inc. v. Fairchild Semiconductor Int'l, Inc.*, 233 F.R.D. 143, 146 (D. Del. 2005), the Court, addressing control in the related context of subpoenae under Rule 45, noted that the Second Circuit's "practical ability" test was more "expansive" a definition of "control" than the traditional meaning of the legal right to obtain the documents. See also 8B Charles A. Wright, *et al.*, FEDERAL PRACTICE & PROCEDURE § 2210 (noting that "practical ability" goes beyond the concept of whether a litigant has a legal right to obtain documents, and stating that "[c]aution must be exercised when the notion of control is extended in this manner ... because sometimes the party's actual ability to obtain compliance from nonparties may prove more modest than anticipated").

<sup>29</sup> Grant argues that the Court applied the wrong standard because, in a footnote in a subsequent order, 11:1632, R.E.15 at 2 n.1, the Court noted that it had previously "ruled that the Defendant is not required to provide the designs because the drawings are not in the Defendant's possession." But as discussed above, the entire focus of the motion to compel and Ford's response was whether or not Ford had control of the documents by being able to get them from Mazda. In fact, in one of Ford's responses, Ford noted that it was not disputed that Ford did not possess the documents. In denying Grant's motion, then, the Court clearly rejected her arguments regarding control.

<sup>30</sup> See also *Chaveriat*, 11 F.3d at 1426 (items requested to be produced were not in party's custody or control because party could not order third party in possession of items to turn them over; "fact that a party could obtain a document if it tried hard enough and maybe if it didn't try hard at all does not mean that the document is in its possession, custody, or control; in fact, it means the opposite"); *M'Baye*, 2008 WL 1849777 at \*4 (M'Baye did not have possession, custody, or control of documents; many of M'Baye's financial documents were in possession of his former promoter and business manager who refused to produce the documents when M'Baye requested them); *800537 Ontario Inc. v. Auto Enterprises, Inc.*, 205 F.R.D. 195, 198 (E.D. Mich. 2000) (magistrate was in error in finding that materials were in control of plaintiffs; documents were in possession of plaintiffs' criminal attorney in Canada who had refused to produce them based on ethical responsibilities; "[p]lain and simple, Plaintiffs

**B. Ford has no legal right to require Mazda to turn over the documents.**

Grant, however, claims that Ford had the “legal right to obtain the design drawings from Mazda.” Gr.Br. at 7. She bases this belief on (i) a 1993 Product Development Agreement and (ii) Ford’s position as a minority stockholder in Mazda. Neither position withstands scrutiny.

First, the Production Agreement relied on by Grant governed the relationship of the parties only for the production cycle of the Probe, from 1992 through 1997.<sup>31</sup> Ford demonstrated to the Circuit Court that the parties’ obligations under the contract thus ended in 1997. The “Purpose” section of the Agreement, 6:784, R.E.1 at 2514, specifically states that “[t]he purpose of this Agreement is to define the development responsibilities and obligations of Mazda as the LVEA [Lead Vehicle Engineering Activity] for the Second Cycle Ford Vehicle [Probe] that will be assembled by AAI ....” The Second Cycle “began on April 16, 1992 and is planned to end [and in fact did] on September 30, 1997 ....” 6:788, R.E.1 at 2518.

In addition, the “Term and Termination” provision of the Agreement, 6:809, R.E.1 at 2539, provides that “Mazda has commenced development work on the [Probe] ... and this Agreement covers that work and shall extend until the completion of the Second Cycle ....” See also 6:815, R.E.1 at 2545 (“Cancellation Costs” provision referring to obligations if agreement is “prematurely terminated, prior to September 30, 1997”); 6:817, R.E.1 at 2547 (also referring to termination of agreement at end of product cycle and requiring parties to reach additional agreements on certain items if terminated before then).

---

are unable to comply with Defendants’ request for production of these documents and therefore, ... Order compelling the production of these documents is clearly erroneous”); *Martin v. B. F. Goodrich Co.*, 602 N.W.2d 343, 346-47 (Iowa 1999) (documents in possession of another company were beyond scope of discovery; party had requested the documents but had been denied access).

<sup>31</sup> In contrast, the contract between the parties in the case cited by Grant, *Anderson v. Cryovac, Inc.*, 862 F.2d 910, 929 (1st Cir. 1988), expressly included a continuing obligation for one of the contracting parties to make records available for the defense of pollution litigation by the other party. Although Grant argued below that another contract, the Vehicle Supply Agreement, contained a provision regarding Ford’s defense of product liability claims, 6:758, that agreement did not contain any provision requiring Mazda to continue to make documents available like the provision in *Anderson*.

Nor does Ford's ownership of some Mazda stock establish that it has the legal right to demand documents from Mazda and thereby obtain them. Grant cites as support for this proposition the decision in *Cooper Industries, Inc. v. British Aerospace, Inc.*, 102 F.R.D. 918 (S.D.N.Y. 1984), in which a wholly-owned subsidiary was held to be in control of documents in the possession of its parent corporation after repeatedly defying court orders to either produce the requested documents or set forth in an affidavit what efforts had been made to obtain the documents. That is not the situation here.

The fact that Ford owns a minority portion of Mazda stock simply does not give it the right to order Mazda to produce documents. See *American Maplan Corp.*, 203 F.R.D. at 501-02 (president and minority shareholder of corporation not required to produce documents in possession of corporation; corporation was not "a sole proprietorship" and the plaintiff had not even alleged that defendant shareholder and officer was the corporation's alter ego; court notes also that shareholders do not have "an unfettered legal right" to corporate records).<sup>32</sup> Ford is a distinct corporate entity from Mazda, the company that possesses the design documents. As the Third Circuit has held, "[i]n the absence of control by a litigating corporation over documents in the physical possession of another corporation, the litigating corporation has no duty to produce." *Gehring Int'l Ins. Co. v. Comm'r of Internal Revenue*, 839 F.2d 131, 140 (3d Cir. 1988).

There is no basis for requiring Ford to produce documents that it did not have and could not obtain. The Circuit Court's denial of Grant's motion to compel should be affirmed.

---

<sup>32</sup> See also *Kestrel Coal Pty. Ltd. v. Joy Global Inc.*, 362 F.3d 401, 405 (7th Cir. 2004) (addressing production of documents for suit in Australia under 28 U.S.C. § 1782, court disapproves trial court's requiring corporation to produce documents in possession of subsidiaries and notes "[l]egal distinctions between corporations and their investors").

## II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN STRIKING PORTIONS OF BENEDICT'S AFFIDAVITS.

Grant is asking this Court to allow parties to present an expert report that contains no significant information as to the basis for those opinions, allow that expert to testify at his deposition that he has done little to no testing to support his opinions and has very thin grounds upon which to base his opinions other than his own experience and knowledge, wait for the discovery deadline to pass, and then, as the trial date approaches and only when the other side challenges that expert's opinions under *Daubert*, suddenly decide to provide additional grounds and testing to support the expert's opinions.<sup>33</sup> Such a procedure would eviscerate the discovery process, particularly in a products liability case, which presents the classic "battle of the experts."

In this case, the scheduling orders entered by the Circuit Court contained deadlines for the taking of depositions of plaintiff's experts and then defendant's experts. *See, e.g.*, 1:100, 3:429, 4:507, 4:525. The Circuit Court clearly intended for the parties to come to trial fully prepared to address the testimony of each other's experts based on the prior depositions. At the time Ford's motions to strike were heard, trial was scheduled for August 24, 2009. 10:1412.

At that hearing, the Circuit Court stated, "there is just not any way that a Defendant can properly respond to a changing playing field as far as what an expert is going to testify to and what the basis of his opinions are." 18:67.<sup>34</sup> Later, at the hearing on Grant's motions to

---

<sup>33</sup> Notably, this appears to be Benedict's modus operandi. In a trial court decision handed down in Florida after this case was appealed, the Court notes, in striking Benedict's door latch and seatbelt defect opinions, that Benedict had testified at his deposition that he had not done any testing to determine what particular defect he believed caused the door to open in the accident, but stated, "I know it just came open, and it shouldn't have." *Minnis v. Ford Motor Co.*, Case No. 06-452-CA, slip. op. at 4-5 (Cir.Ct., 19th Judicial Cir., Martin Cty., Fla. Mar. 24, 2010). *See* Appendix. At the hearing on Ford's motion to exclude Benedict's testimony, plaintiff's counsel "handed the Court a 21 page affidavit executed by Dr. Benedict" with "a disc containing an appendix of material" attached. *Id.* at 4. Although the Court did consider the affidavit—there is no indication that Ford moved to strike the affidavit under Florida's procedures—it nevertheless struck Benedict's opinions due to his lack of testing to support his opinions.

reconsider, the Circuit Court again noted that there was insufficient time “to be accountable to cross-examination about the methodology of all those things [the new material] ....” 19:105. The Circuit Court also noted that Grant’s suggestions to give Ford more time to allow their experts to rebut Benedict’s new information or to depose Benedict again would mean that the August 24 trial date could not be maintained. 19:106-07.

In refusing to allow Grant’s expert to “supplement” his opinions with information that should have been provided at the time of his deposition, the Circuit Court was well within its discretion. *Blanton v. Board of Supervisors*, 720 So.2d 190, 196 (Miss. 1998) (applying abuse of discretion standard when addressing court’s exclusion of expert report as untimely); *Sanders v. Wiseman*, 29 So.3d 138, 140 (Miss. App. 2010) (“trial court’s decision to grant or deny a motion to strike an affidavit will not be reversed unless there has been an abuse of discretion”).

**A. The Circuit Court did not err in finding that Grant had sufficient notice.**

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